

How can economic incentives designed for environmental conservation support a transition to sustainable and equitable agriculture?



Commission on Sustainable Agriculture Intensification

How can economic incentives designed for environmental conservation support a transition to sustainable and equitable agriculture?

SDG Center for Latin America and the Caribbean (CODS)

April 2022

The authors

Lina Moros, Universidad de Los Andes, School of Management, Bogotá, Colombia; Sergio Puerto, Charles H. Dyson School of Applied Economics and Management, Cornell University, Ithaca NY, USA; Dayron Monroy, Universidad de Los Andes, School of Economics, Bogotá, Colombia; Josefina Achaval-Torre, Independent Consultant, Oslo, Norway; Ximena Rueda, Universidad de Los Andes, School of Management, Bogotá, Colombia.

Moros, L.; Puerto, S; Monroy, D., Achaval-Torre, J., Rueda, X. 2022. *How can economic incentives designed for environmental conservation support a transition to sustainable and equitable agriculture?* Colombo, Sri Lanka: Commission on Sustainable Agriculture Intensification. 42p.

Copyright © 2022, Commission on Sustainable Agriculture Intensification (CoSAI), CGIAR Research Program on Water, Land and Ecosystems (WLE)

Fair use:

Unless otherwise noted, you are free to copy, duplicate or reproduce, and distribute, display or transmit any part of this report or portions thereof without permission, and to make translations, adaptations or other derivative works under the following conditions:

ATTRIBUTION: The work must be referenced according to international standards, but not in any way that suggests endorsement by WLE, IWMI or the author(s).

NON-COMMERCIAL: This work may not be used for commercial purposes.

SHARE ALIKE: If this work is altered, transformed or built upon, the resulting work must be distributed only under the same or similar Creative Commons license to this one.

Disclaimer:

This is a working paper that has not been formally peer reviewed. The opinions expressed in this paper and any possible errors are the responsibility of the authors. They do not necessarily reflect the position of the Commission on Sustainable Agriculture Intensification or the institutions and individuals who were involved in the preparation of the report.

Acknowledgements

The <u>Commission on Sustainable Agriculture Intensification</u> (CoSAI) was initiated and is supported by the <u>CGIAR Research Program on Water, Land and Ecosystems</u> (WLE), funded by the CGIAR Trust Fund and other donors. CoSAI Commissioners are independent. CoSAI is facilitated by a Secretariat based at the International Water Management Institute (IWMI) headquarters in Colombo, Sri Lanka.

The authors are grateful for the support, encouragement and insights of CoSAI's Head of Secretariat Julia Compton and CoSAI Commissioner Grethel Aguilar, the working groups on Agriculture and the Environment and Agriculture and Social and Human Objectives at CoSAI, our partners at the Alliance CIAT-Biodiversity International and IUCN who, together with the SDG Center for Latin America and the Caribbean (CODS) at Universidad de Los Andes, helped us discuss these ideas with experts and practitioners from around the world. We also thank Andrew Nobel and Juan Forero who, together with Josefina Achaval-Torre, worked on the preliminary research that helped define the scope of this study.

Donors



This research was carried out as part of the CGIAR Research Program on Water, Land and Ecosystems (WLE) and supported by Funders contributing to the CGIAR Trust Fund (https://www.cgiar.org/funders/)

Contents

Executive summary vii
1. Introduction vii
2. Analytical framework
3. Methods5
4. Economic incentives for conservation7
4.1 Payments for ecosystem services (PES)8
4.2 Voluntary sustainability standards (VSS)11
4.3 REDD+
4.4 Carbon markets
5. Other financial instruments and funding sources18
5.1 Catalytic investments
5.2 Biodiversity offsets20
6. Discussion21
6.1 Opportunities for innovation in equity, efficiency and scalability
6.2 Opportunities for innovation in participation and monitoring
6.3 Opportunities for innovation in spatial targeting25
7. Conclusion27
References
Annex 1. Typologies of environmental policy instruments35
Annex 2. Studies on economic incentives for conservation

Executive summary

Agriculture is crucial for the livelihood of millions of people worldwide and is one of the main drivers of deforestation, biodiversity loss and resource degradation. The contribution of agriculture to these environmental problems has been exacerbated by subsidies, which constitute the dominant public policy to support farmers. At the same time, other economic instruments introducing more sustainable land-use practices and incentivizing better environmental and social outcomes are already being applied worldwide. In this report, we selected a set of these incentive-based instruments for conservation and reviewed synthesis and meta-analysis studies that offered robust evaluations and comparisons of existing research. Please note that we use conservation as a shorthand for the protection and restoration of nature, and the mitigation of the effects of climate change on the environment. Based on this review, we identify their impacts on environmental, economic, and equity outcomes and discuss the success factors and challenges in their application and design.

Overall, we find some positive effects on deforestation reduction and the protection of surface water sources, with modest impacts on mitigation of climate change via emission reductions of greenhouse gases. Moreover, economic impacts on livelihoods and distributional effects are mixed and understudied in the literature, especially for the Global South. The evidence in the literature suggests that a crucial factor in the performance of economic instruments for conservation is a robust monitoring and sanction system based on conditional compensations. Their long-term success depends on the capacity to generate verifiable environmental benefits and the distributional impacts between winners and losers in conservation efforts.

Despite the potential of economic instruments for conservation to generate impact, significant tradeoffs remain between scalability versus efficiency, equity versus productivity and monitoring versus participation. Notably, the application of these instruments in sustainable agriculture requires tailoring their design to the local conditions of farmers, making forest conservation compatible with rural livelihoods, and balancing punishments and rewards.

Results from this review call for innovations to make these instruments useful to support the transition to sustainable agriculture. Opportunities for innovation include (i) lower access cost to smallholders, (ii) allowing mixed uses, with an emphasis on restoration, (iii) enhancing community participation in monitoring and (iv) work on spatial targeting of the most critical ecosystems with a landscape or jurisdictional approach.

1. Introduction

Agriculture is the main driver of land-use change, biodiversity loss and climate change (Benton et al. 2021, IPCC 2019). The contribution of agriculture to these problems has only been exacerbated by subsidies that constitute the dominant public policy to support producers. Input subsidies have contributed to the excessive and wasteful use of water, nutrients and pesticides (Pimentel et al. 2004, Rockström et al. 2020). In recent times, scientists have called for the repurposing of public subsidies away from inputs toward paying farmers for environmental stewardship and climate change mitigation (Rockström et al. 2020; FAO et al. 2021). Transforming agriculture to reduce its impacts on the planet will require innovations in the design and implementation of new policy tools, as well as the creation of new institutional arrangements to better govern terrestrial and marine resources.

Innovations to introduce more sustainable land-use practices are already happening in different areas of the world. Non-government organizations (NGOs), companies and governments have created different economic instruments to promote the conservation of threatened ecosystems or compensate for losses derived from economic activities (Lambin et al. 2014). These instruments have been called hybrid or market-based mechanisms, as they usually involve a combination of public and private actors, and because they tend to emulate markets (i.e., define "buyers" and "sellers" of the ecosystem service of interest). Compared to traditional policy tools designed to motivate behavioral changes among land users—such as production quotas, taxes or subsidies—hybrid instruments are being presented as alternatives to subsidies, which have shown limited success in addressing the needs of the poorer farmers. They usually end up in the hands of larger, more politically connected farmers, and are deleterious for the environment, as they tend to pursue productivity goals at the expense of water, soil and biodiversity conservation.

Many of these novel instruments have different goals: payments for ecosystem services (PES) and carbon credits, for instance, have been used primarily for water provision or carbon sequestration, while others, such as voluntary sustainability standards (VSS), have originated in agricultural supply chains with the aim of introducing more sustainable practices in food production. Such diversity of goals makes it difficult to assess their impacts on environmental conservation and poverty alleviation. An additional problem arises because many of these initiatives are often limited to the "proof of concept" phase (Bigger et al. 2021), and thus remain underfunded and insufficiently tested to provide enough evidence of their scalability.

In spite of those limitations, we find the institutional novelty of these arrangements worth understanding and therefore address the actors, relationships and domains in which these new sociotechnical arrangements work (Fuenfschilling 2019) to favor better environmental and social outcomes. Given their high adoption in a small number of countries, the significant amount of research outcomes evaluating their achievements and limitations, and their adaptability to different contexts, we argue that these instruments offer an incredible opportunity to combine productive, environmental and social goals, driving a sustainable and inclusive agricultural transition.

In this paper, we selected a set of economic instruments created to incentivize environmental and social outcomes and searched for synthesis papers that offered robust evaluations and comparisons

of existing case studies. We analyzed such synthesis papers in terms of economic, environmental and equity outcomes, highlighting the instruments' limitations, but also the contextual factors contributing to their success. Based on the most significant findings, we propose a series of areas for innovation to enhance their performance, in terms of both environmental and social inclusion goals, while making them more pertinent for agricultural applications.

The paper is divided into seven sections, the first of which is this introduction. In section two we present the analytical framework and, in section three, the methods and data used for the study. Section four presents the main results and section five discusses the modifications required to enhance the effectiveness of the proposed mechanisms to promote agriculture's sustainability transition. Section six presents the discussion of the study with some policy implications and section seven concludes.

2. Analytical framework

Traditionally, the public sector has designed and implemented command-and-control interventions for conservation such as the declaration of protected areas, deforestation bans and land-use zoning to sustainably manage natural resources and prevent the degradation of global and local ecosystem services. These types of interventions have had some impact. Protected areas, for example, have reduced deforestation in Brazil, Mexico and Indonesia (OECD 2020). However, regulatory instruments face limitations regarding (i) the low capacity of some governments in monitoring and enforcing regulations, which is related to (ii) the decreased power of governments to manage resource production decisions, compared to corporations, and (iii) unintended leakage effects in areas outside the control of the government (Lambin et al. 2014).

Since the end of the 1980s, the emergence of new economic instruments has created the space for the private and third sectors to actively engage in the management and governance of common goods. In this context, different actors, from governments to the private sector, have relied on economic instruments to motivate behavior change through voluntary transactions. Economic instruments are "fiscal and other economic incentives and disincentives to incorporate environmental costs and benefits into the budgets of households and enterprises" (United Nations 1997). Economic instruments can, for example, increase the cost of environmental degradation (e.g., taxes on carbon) or decrease the cost of adoption of sustainable agricultural production practices (e.g., payments for agrobiodiversity conservation services). By doing so, land users' behavior is expected to change toward more sustainable practices.

Different typologies of environmental policy instruments in the context of agriculture exist (see Annex 1). Although there has been considerable effort to categorize existing instruments, reaching a common language is difficult. Similar instruments within different typologies are frequently named differently; categories in these typologies are sometimes not mutually exclusive or exhaustive, as scientific categories need to be. Comparing typologies to each other is difficult and impedes the advancement of a common framework. The PES, for example, are included under "economic instruments" in Lockie (2020) or under "responsible market-led investments" in FAO (2020). Exclusion criteria for categories are not completely clear.

Although it is out of the scope of this review to propose a new typology, we call on international governing bodies such as FAO to lead a task force dedicated to reaching a common framework that enables the advancement of theory and practice of environmental policy, based on a portfolio of instruments. In this context of a lack of common language, we consider it relevant to focus on those types of instruments that fall into the "gray area" of revised typologies: economic instruments that are not purely public nor purely private, instruments that are used in combination with other types of incentives and that typically overlap with or rely on regulations. We decided to adapt the FAO (2020) framework and chose five main conservation instruments to review (described in detail in the third section): (i) PES, (ii) Reducing emissions from forest Degradation and Deforestation (REDD+), (iii) VSS, (iv) carbon markets and (v) biodiversity offsets. See Table 2 for explanations of these economic instruments.



Figure 1. Typology of instruments adapted from FAO (2020).

Commonly included in these typologies are catalytic investments or blended finance instruments. These terms appeared in our searches (see below) and were suggested by experts (EDF & CFC 2020; Havemann et al. 2020). These instruments include impact investment (balancing economic and social or environmental returns) and blended finance (leveraging private funds to match concessionary funding or development assistance) also called catalytic capital. For the most part, these instruments are not true economic incentives provided to farmers for conservation purposes, but alternative ways to introduce liquidity into credit markets. For example, they often translate into micro-lending schemes. Also, they are mainly applied to financing adaptation activities to climate change impacts for agricultural producers. We were hard pressed to find data on outcomes of financing for climate change mitigation or biodiversity conservation. Nevertheless, given the interest they have generated, we included them here, noting their limitations but also the potential to repurpose some of these funds to more direct incentives that help the rural poor.

Equally challenging were the biodiversity offsets. They have been used since the 1970s as instruments to avoid the unequivocal consequences of large infrastructure projects by ensuring that there is no net loss of biodiversity (zu Ermgassen et al. 2019). These instruments are in many cases mandatory, and therefore fall under the sphere of public regulatory mechanisms. In other cases, they can be voluntary and triggered by NGOs or private companies. Although they have been applied mainly in the Global North, we think they offer great promise for countries in the Global South, where most of the global biodiversity exists and where most of the emphasis in conservation programs has been devoted to reducing tropical deforestation and securing carbon sequestration. In tropical regions, less effort has been placed in biodiversity conservation—especially in agricultural landscapes—despite having been proven to be intrinsically linked to climate change (Pörtner et al. 2021) and securing a safe operating space for humanity (Rockström et al. 2009). For many dwellers of the Global South, biodiversity is also a key factor supporting local livelihoods (Persha et al. 2011). For this reason, we included the main global evidence on their functioning and suggested ways to improve them, despite only scant evidence of their impacts in the Global South.

3. Methods

We conducted a review focusing on existing literature reviews, meta-analysis and synthesis of cases reviewing instruments and incentives for environmental conservation. We selected papers published in the last decade although the specific cases date back, for most cases, to at least 2010. We applied the following search streams in Scopus and ScienceDirect (Table 1).

Instrument (AND)	Focus (AND)	Year restriction (AND)	Type of search (AND)
PES (OR) Payment for ecosystem services	Agrobiodiversity (OR) biodiversity (OR) conservation	After 2010	Review (OR) Systematic Review Meta-analysis
VSS (OR) certification (OR) moratoria (OR) voluntary standards	Agriculture	After 2010	Review (OR) Systematic Review Meta-analysis
Carbon pricing (OR) carbon markets (OR) carbon offsets		After 2010	Review (OR) Systematic Review Meta-analysis

Table 1. Search streams in Scopus and ScienceDirect.

We used a snowball methodology to select additional papers, based on an initial search of key studies in consultation with experts¹. The review includes papers in both the Global North and South, considering high-, low- and middle-income countries. Our study focuses on design, implementation and evaluation of outcomes in the Global South but since most of the carbon market cases came from the North, we decided to include those as well, only for that instrument. Figure 1 shows the geographical location of the revised cases. Annex 2 reports the number of cases, locations and studies we reviewed. As mentioned above, catalytic investments and blended finance were terms that appeared in our searches and were suggested by experts, so we decided to include them, noting their limitations but also their potential for a more impactful integration into financial incentives to land users.

¹ Experts included CoSAI Secretariat members and Commissioners, the Alliance of Biodiversity International and CIAT, and IUCN.





The selected papers are analyzed to assess four main components. First, we focus on the geographic coverage and the relevance of each instrument for the Global South. Second, we analyze each instrument design to identify whether they have been successful by measuring effects in three areas: economic (income and price) impacts, environmental impacts (including biodiversity conservation, avoided deforestation or afforestation and other sustainable land-use practices) and equity (distributive or pro-poor) impacts. Importantly, evidence needs to show additionality, meaning that the application of these instruments is conducive to true additional gains in environmental outcomes compared to reliable counterfactuals. Third, we study design, implementation and monitoring factors that explain success (or lack of). Finally, we consider what contextual and idiosyncratic factors are relevant to enable well-functioning instruments in each case.

4. Economic incentives for conservation

In this section, we describe the main results of our review. Based on the selected studies, we first describe each instrument, synthesize its main impacts in environmental, economic and equity terms, and then identify success factors and challenges in the application and design of each instrument. Table 2 presents a summary of how each of these instruments works, including a general description of the transaction between who pays and who gets paid for the conservation efforts. Table 3 presents a summary of environmental, economic and equity impacts of instruments.

Instrument	Definition	Who pays?	Intermediaries	Who is paid?	What is paid for?
Payments for Ecosystem Services (PES)	Users of ecosystem services (ES) pay to providers conditional on guaranteed provision of ES	Beneficiaries of ES. Typically governments, less common citizens and the private sector	NGOs and/or local governments/co mmunity organizations that act as operators	Providers of ES. Usually forest margin land- users (either communities or individuals)	Hectares of protected forest, hectares of restored area and adoption of some sustainable agricultural practices
Voluntary Sustainability Standards (VSS)	Norms and standards to ensure that a product contributes to environmental, social and economic objectives	Governments, NGOs and companies	Certification bodies. NGOs that provide technical assistance	Producers in the Global South linked to global value chains	Adoption of sustainability standards that involve changes in productive practices
Reducing Emissions from Deforestatio n and forest Degradation (REDD+)	Carbon emitters buy offsets from forest margin communities supporting conservation and local communities	Carbon emitters typically in the Global North but also big companies in the Global South	Program operators (usually local NGOs or community organizations). Verification bodies	Forest margin communities or individuals in the Global South	Carbon credits

Table 2. Description of economic instruments.

Instrument	Definition	Who pays?	Intermediaries	Who is paid?	What is paid for?
Carbon markets: emission trading systems (ETS) and clean development mechanism (CDM)	Mechanisms in which emitters (usually countries in the Global North) offset their emissions via the financing of emissions reductions in the Global South	Carbon emitters are typically in the Global North but also big companies in the Global South	Program operators (usually local NGOs or community organizations). Verification bodies	Forest margin communities or individuals, e.g., farmers in the Global South	Activities related to carbon emission reduction such as hectares of preserved forests, area of forest restoration or integrated conservation and development projects

4.1 Payments for ecosystem services (PES)

Description

As a market-based instrument for environmental conservation and sustainable land use, PES encourages landowners to maintain, restore or enhance ES via conditional economic transfers (Wunder 2015). The PES have gained traction in environmental policy because they are assumed to have more effective potential than other conservation tools, such as the declaration of protected areas, and because PES represents an alternative source of income for vulnerable communities in the Global South (Muradian et al. 2013; Pagiola et al. 2005). In these schemes, users of ecosystem services (ES) pay ES providers, conditional on the latter implementing pro-environmental actions that guarantee the provision of the ES (Ezzine-de-Blas et al. 2016). Payments could be in cash, in-kind or a mix of both and should cover the opportunity cost of alternative activities within the targeted area.

The PES could follow different environmental objectives, water protection being the most popular one, but also biodiversity protection and in some cases protection of native species and landraces used in agriculture (i.e., agrobiodiversity). The PES schemes are categorized as public or private depending on the financing source. In private schemes, ES users make a payment to ES providers in exchange for the latter to secure the provision of an ES of interest to the user. For instance, private companies participate in these schemes if the provision of the ES is closely related to the continuity of their economic operations² (Ezzine-de-Blas et al. 2016). In public PES, governments group the interests of ES users through taxes and fees and use the collection to pay ES providers in remote areas

² Including Profafor carbon PES in Ecuador (Wunder and Albán 2008), Vittel watershed scheme in France (Perrot-Maître 2006) and Simanjiro wildlife conservation scheme in Tanzania (Nelson 2008).

of national interest.³ Either way, the key assumption is that in the absence of this payment, farmers and landowners would have not provided or preserved valuable ES.

The PES schemes targeting agriculture generally focus on dissuading farmers from transforming strategic conservation lands into farmland and encouraging the adoption of sustainable agricultural practices such as silvopastoral and agro-silvicultural systems (Ezzine-de-Blas et al. 2016; Narloch et al. 2011; Pagiola et al. 2016). We tracked 22 schemes with a farmland coverage of 16.5 million hectares, 96.5% of which are concentrated in seven schemes trying to reduce and avoid agricultural production in conservation areas.⁴ In addition, three schemes in Nicaragua, Costa Rica and Colombia promoted the adoption of silvopastoral systems (Ezzine-de-Blas et al. 2016; Pagiola et al. 2016).

A particular form of PES, payments for agrobiodiversity conservation services (PACS), are designed to promote the adoption of traditional seed varieties that are better adapted to local environmental conditions. Extensive monocropping and the loss of seed diversity has put food security at risk, as varieties resilient to changing environments might be lost to higher-yielding ones. In our review, we found nine PES schemes promoting the reintroduction of 130 threatened varieties of amaranth, maize and quinoa, in more than a hundred farming communities located in Ecuador, Bolivia, Guatemala and Peru, at relatively low conservation costs (Drucker and Ramirez 2020).

Impacts

Our review of 143 cases of PES in 23 countries shows the following impacts. Environmental impacts have been typically measured in terms of reductions in deforestation rates, changes in forest cover and changes in land use. Seventeen impact evaluation studies—reviewed in Moros et al. (2020) and based on Börner et al. (2017)—and a systematic review of 44 studies and 18 unique PES programs (Snilsveit et al. 2019) show a positive impact of PES in reducing deforestation in contexts of high deforestation such as Uganda (Jayachandran et al. 2017). They have also increased forest cover, particularly in Mexico and Costa Rica, where the majority of studies have focused (Costedoat et al. 2015; Robalino and Pfaff 2013), and have promoted the adoption of sustainable cattle-ranching practices in Colombia (Pagiola et al. 2016).

The economic impacts of PES are still debatable, and more studies are needed to reach conclusive evidence. Our review shows that economic impacts have typically been measured in terms of changes in household income (Börner et al. 2017; Snilsveit et al. 2019). Studies of this type have been conducted in Costa Rica, Mexico, Mozambique and China, among others, but the evidence is of low or very low quality meaning that methodologies are questionable because of their sampling method or failure to acknowledge spillover effects (Snilsveit et al. 2019). In general, there is weak evidence of increases in total household income (Börner et al. 2020).

³ In cases such as the sloping land conversion program in China (Bennet 2008), Conservation Reserve Program in the USA (Claassen et al. 2008), the PES national program in Costa Rica (Pagiola 2008) and the Payments for Hydrological Services Program in Mexico (Muñoz-Piña et al. 2008).

⁴ These schemes are the Los Negros scheme in Bolivia, Conservation Reserve Program and Environmental Quality Incentives Program in the US, Environmentally Sensitive Areas in the UK, Rio la Vieja scheme, Procuenca scheme in Colombia and Sociobosque in Ecuador (Ezzine-de-Blas et al. 2016).

Equity in PES is measured in terms of three dimensions: equity in access, equity in the process and equity in the results (Corbera et al. 2007). Equity impacts are usually captured in qualitative studies based on participants' perceptions. Equity in access ensures that payments do not reinforce preexisting inequalities so that informal owners and families in vulnerable communities can also participate (Milne and Adams 2012; Rodríguez and Budds 2015). Equity in the process emphasizes that the scheme fosters inclusive decision-making mechanisms (to define payments and practices) and empowers beneficiaries in local governance processes (Wunder et al. 2018). Finally, equity in the results refers to how payments are distributed among ES providers and improve the economic income of the participants (Wunder et al. 2018). Our review shows that PES could either reinforce pre-existing inequalities (Milne and Adams 2012; Rodríguez and Budds 2015) or redistribute program benefits improving overall collective well-being (Hendrickson and Corbera 2015; van Hecken et al. 2015).

Success factors and challenges

Meta-analyses have identified three success factors of PES: spatial targeting, differentiation of payments and monitoring combined with sanctions (Ezzine-de-Blas et al. 2016; Wunder et al. 2018). Regarding spatial targeting, the literature emphasizes the need to direct PES toward areas with a higher density of ES or that are at risk of degradation or deforestation, and toward areas where the opportunity cost of preserving is low. Targeting is key to assuring additionality, which means that payments are conducive to additional gains in forest cover, for instance, compared to non-PES areas (Engel 2016). The logic of targeting resides in the fact that not all areas matter equally for conservation, i.e., there is variability in environmental benefits or risks, and budget constraints impede enrolling all potential ES suppliers (Moros 2019). The most frequent targeting strategy is to select areas based on ES density, which is based in turn on the potential provision of ES per area unit. In a recent article, Wunder et al. (2018) report that 50% of the cases revised in their study claim to target participants based on ES density.

Payments must also be differentiated with criteria of efficiency or equity, in accordance with the objectives set by the PES. Since the cost of providing an ES could differ among farmers in the same region (according to the valuation and vocation of their farm), from a cost-efficiency perspective, it is recommended that payments are proportional to the opportunity cost of preservation. Otherwise, owners of more fertile properties with easy access to agricultural markets would receive higher payments than landowners in the peripheral area with higher barriers to market access. From an equity perspective, the payment structure can be designed such that it takes into account the socio-economic vulnerability of the participants (Vorlaufer et al. 2017). In Colombia, for instance, the "Yo Protejo, agua para todos" PES scheme differentiated payments according to a national poverty index, providing higher payments to more vulnerable households (Moros 2019).

Another key internal factor in the application of PES is a robust monitoring and sanction system based on conditional compensations (Ezzine-de-Blas et al. 2016; Moros et al. 2020; Wunder et al. 2018). Progress in terms of monitoring is outstanding—almost all the PES inspected by Wunder et al. (2018) have an established monitoring system; however, the authors found that half of them sanctioned noncompliance, and only a quarter did so consistently. In 55 PES schemes analyzed by Ezzine-de-Blas et al. (2016), the degree of conditionality was 4.1 (with 9 being the maximum score). Among these programs, 12 focused on agriculture and on average yielded a lower conditionality degree (score 2.6 out of a potential 9). Almost all the schemes (focused on agriculture) monitored land use, except the Los Negros scheme in Bolivia which monitored the provision of ES (water). Eleven of them incorporated sanction mechanisms in cases of non-compliance into their design, yet only eight applied this in practice (four partially applied) and three schemes did not apply them (Ezzine-de-Blas et al. 2016).

Although studies evaluating PES overall impacts have increased over time, gaps in knowledge persist that limit the scaling up of PES in particular in agricultural landscapes. For instance, we did not find any impact evaluations of schemes aiming to promote the reintroduction of native varieties of maize, quinoa and amaranth among farmers in the South American Andes. Although available evidence is promising in terms of the potential of PES in promoting agrobiodiversity, more studies are needed in terms of evaluating the impact of this instrument for outcome variables other than forest cover, such as its impact on improving farm systems toward sustainability and climate change adaptation. In terms of income and equity impacts, quantitative studies using impact evaluation techniques are needed to assess the promises of PES in providing alternative income sources for marginalized farmers, many of them in forest frontiers.

4.2 Voluntary sustainability standards (VSS)

Description

The VSS are norms or codes of conduct that actors in a supply chain need to obey in order to sell to a specific market. These instruments were first introduced in commodity supply chains in the 1980s, with the first certification schemes in the coffee value chain (Eakin et al. 2017). The VSS encompass not only third-party certifications but also less restrictive company codes of conduct, such as the AAA program or the CAFE practices by Nespresso and Starbucks, respectively, industry roundtables, such as the Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Oil where supply actors share best practices that may lead to a certification program, and more stringent bans and moratoria—like the one established in the Brazilian Amazon to curb deforestation by excluding non-traceable suppliers from selling to international markets (Rueda et al. 2017).

Impact

A substantial number of studies have attempted to assess the environmental and livelihood impacts of these instruments. The most comprehensive and recent literature reviews are those of Garrett et al. (2021) and Meemken (2020). These two include previous research (DeFries et al. 2017; Oya et al. 2018; Tscharntke et al. 2015) so that they form the basis of the analysis undertaken here. Garrett et al. (2021) analyze 37 cases using robust methods for assessing impacts, focusing on deforestation-risk commodities (coffee, cocoa, beef, soybeans and palm oil). This excludes organic and fair-trade certifications that do not have provisions for forest conservation. Meemken (2020) analyzes 97 cases, focusing on the economic effects of sustainability standards on agricultural prices, yields, production costs, farmer profits and household income. Her analysis includes a large range of products, not only the most traded commodities, but also fruits, vegetables, spices, fibers, cereals, honey and sugar cane.

Environmental impacts show that compliance with reforestation and avoided deforestation is high in coffee in the Americas, mixed in soybeans and non-existent for cattle in the Brazilian Amazon (Garrett et al. 2021). Shade- or semi-shade-grown coffee allows for farmers to increase forest cover in their plots, which helps explain why reforestation practices were more successful in coffee than in other commodities. Improvements in conservation outcomes, including activities such as water sources

protection, conservation of forest remnants and afforestation were found in 43% of all cases analyzed by Garrett et al. (2021), and were not limited to coffee.

Commodity income gains were found in 65% of the cases analyzed by Garrett et al. (2021), including certification and codes of conduct in coffee (in Latin America) and cocoa (in Ghana), and the Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Oil (in Indonesia). However, cases in Colombia, Uganda and Nicaragua found no commodity or household income improvements. Five studies analyzed simultaneous economic and conservation impacts (in coffee, cocoa and palm oil); none of them found synergistic results, and economic gains in palm oil were obtained with little conservation gain. In the other cases, conservation trumps livelihood goals, as adoption of agroforestry systems tends to reduce productivity and income, at least in the initial phases.

Using regression analysis, Meemken (2020) finds that both median and mean income increase with VSS, while effects on yields are mixed: in some cases, certification increases productivity, by helping farmers keep better records of inputs use and by improving farm practices; in others, prohibition of or reduced access to agrochemical inputs reduces yields. Finally, revenues increase for both crop and household income across certification standards, as the certified crop tends to be the main livelihood strategy for certified farmers (Rueda and Lambin 2013. The results of Meemken (2020) confirm those of previous studies that were done with smaller samples (Defries et al. 2017; Oya et al. 2018). Furthermore, none of the studies analyzed present data on differences between larger and smaller owners, thus equity considerations are not properly evaluated. Furthermore, the studies included in these reviews use propensity-score matching or other quasi-experimental design methods that control for differences in farm size and other productive assets, preventing studies from capturing possible structural differences in wealth between certified and non-certified farmers. Certification schemes have indeed been widely criticized for their lack of accessibility to smallholders. To ensure wider participation, certifying bodies have created group certifications that reduce auditing costs; they have also invited donors to help cover the cost of investments needed to reach compliance. Whether these measurements have helped close the accessibility gaps remains a field in need of further inquiry.

Success factors and challenges

What factors have contributed to the relative success of certifications, codes of conduct and moratoria? Not all studies answer this question; however, those that do, point to effective technology transfer via extension services for the adoption of better agricultural practices that reduce dependence on agrochemicals and introduce tree species into the plots, provided by the government, community organizations and donors. Strong cooperatives help improve the bargaining power of small-scale farmers and access to differentiated markets, while also ensuring the distribution of (some) economic and social benefits. Coordination and coherence between public and private policies are also crucial to ensure that social benefits are accrued (for instance by requiring that minimum living wages are paid to workers) and distributed.

Not all certification schemes offer a price premium (i.e., a price above the international price) to farmers that comply with their regulations. The UTZ certification system⁵ expects that farmers increase productivity through better farming practices, thus monetizing the benefits of certification

⁵ A B2B certification scheme originally from the Netherlands but currently merged with the Rainforest Alliance.

via yields but not prices. Productivity gains have indeed been observed in many certification programs. One of the studies analyzed by Garrett et al. (2022) showed that farmers certified under the Rainforest Alliance certification scheme received premia that were variable and countercyclical: increasing when the international price of coffee is low and decreasing when the price is high. Thus although farmers make an effort to adopt more sustainable practices, the market does not always recognize such efforts in the form of higher incomes.

Another limitation of certification is the lack of additionality, this is the difficulty in providing increases in forest cover, beyond what is already standing. Because of its voluntary character, adoption tends to concentrate on farmers who have already adopted better farming practices, and thus face a lower cost of entering the program. This situation tends to leave laggers behind, perhaps those that need transformations the most. Furthermore, these schemes work for highly visible, branded international commodities but for local markets in emerging or low-income economies, the market niche is very small. Also, because of its voluntary nature, VSS may have a limited landscape-level impact, as adopters and non-adopters remain interspaced in the territory, potentially canceling each other's efforts out.

For moratoria, the largest risk is leakage. As expansion into targeted natural ecosystems is banned, farmers tend to move to other ecosystems not targeted by the moratorium. This is the case with soybeans in Brazil. As the expansion is banned in the Amazon, cultivation is expanding into the Cerrado biome.

4.3 REDD+

Description

The REDD+ schemes incentivize Global South countries to implement emissions reductions activities such as keeping forests standing and sustainably managing forest and agricultural systems. The REDD+ schemes use economic compensation to forest users to discourage the felling of forests, protect carbon stocks, combined with assistance for sustainable forest management and support in alternative livelihoods among the beneficiary communities (Luttrell and Betteridge 2017; Petkova et al. 2010; Sills et al. 2015). The NGOs and private companies led the articulation of these schemes, which emerged from the international call for "demonstration activities" by the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) in the early 1990s (Solis et al. 2021). Currently, REDD+ schemes mostly follow a top-down approach in which resources are channeled from developed countries into projects in the Global South via multilateral institutions designed to meet the specific environmental and social goals (for example the United Nations REDD Programme). Compensation can take the form of direct payments or can be in exchange for "carbon credits," which represent reductions in greenhouse gas emissions to compensate for emissions made somewhere else.

Impact

We studied papers analyzing 85 REDD+ projects, many with the potential to alleviate poverty, empower local forest governance, conserve biodiversity and generate climate benefits (Brown et al. 2008 in Solis et al. 2021). However, an analysis of the International Database on REDD+ projects and programs shows that they primarily focus on avoiding deforestation and degradation (48.4%) and the others (37.3%) focus on afforestation or reforestation (Wunder et al. 2020). Moreover, we did not find

evaluations of the impact of REDD+ on equity or the distributional effects on the communities in which these programs are implemented.

Only a few research articles focus on the main objective of REDD+, that is, changes in forest carbon and land use outcomes (Duchelle et al. 2018). For example, West et al. (2020) find that a dozen of the REDD+ projects in the Brazil Amazon reduced forest loss. However, they also find that the stated impact of these projects has been overestimated due to biased baseline estimates of the deforestation rates, such that almost half of the total carbon credits issued in these projects do not reflect true additionality gains. Duchelle et al. (2018) find similar results for the few articles studying impacts on land use and carbon sequestration.

The majority of REDD+ articles also study non-carbon outcomes such as well-being, tenure rights, biodiversity, local participation and adaptation (Duchelle et al. 2018; Wunder et al. 2020). These studies focus on small-scale agents of deforestation, for example, small farms, with limited funding flows. Wunder et al. (2020) find a net positive impact on households' perceived effectiveness of REDD+ interventions, which includes forest enhancements, environmental education and tenure clarification. In a study of 45 papers with cases in Indonesia, Kenya, Tanzania, Uganda, Mozambique, Cameroon, Brazil, Mexico, Guyana, Costa Rica and Nepal, Duchelle et al. (2017) find that forest effects are modestly positive in general. Other outcomes reveal reductions in perceived tenure security and wellbeing. Furthermore, REDD+ projects can affect other types of forest management and environmental collective action. For instance, Hajjar et al. (2021) find mixed effects on the resilience of community forests, such that REDD+ projects can improve participation in decision making and network connectivity, but can also negatively affect forest management by imposing restrictions on the local forest management. Similarly, Duchelle et al. (2018) find slightly positive and negative effects in articles analyzing REDD+ on non-carbon outcomes, including well-being and land tenure.

Success factors and challenges

The success of REDD+ projects depends on how well they adapt to local conditions and mitigate uncertainty while creating robust compensation schemes. For instance, the creation of local networks that actively participate in the definition of key aspects of the scheme is important to promote socioecological resilience in the communities, which is desirable for communities to increase their willingness to conserve and seek alternative livelihoods (Hajjar et al. 2021). Additionally, the programs and projects must mitigate the uncertainty generated by the negotiations for contract renewals and the risk of interrupting the payments, since the communities involved renounce their conventional incomes to maintain carbon stocks (Hajjar et al. 2021; Wunder et al. 2020). Some REDD+ programs started implementing conditional payments in 2017 in an effort to achieve certification and start carbon sales, which correlate with a greater commitment on behalf of landowners and implementers to carbon sequestration (Wunder et al. 2020). Further, conditional payments have been shown to be more effective when applied directly to communities, for example, via public goods like schools, education funds and wells (Duchelle et al. 2018).

The interventions promoted in these programs can also lead to unintended consequences. Similarly to PES schemes and other instruments trying to promote alternative land use via economic incentives, the design and implementation of REDD+ require a good understanding of how local conditions change. The REDD+ projects may decrease communities' resilience by restricting local forest use and introducing rigid rules that lead to conflict and greater inequalities (Duchelle et al. 2018; Hajjar et al.

2021). Also, REDD+ can contribute to communities' loss of agricultural land or grazing rights to the creation of community forests, so REDD+ can restrict food availability, lumber production and other forest resource use (Hajjar et al. 2021). The extent to which local communities adapt to these changes is still a puzzle. Duchelle et al. (2018) address that, of 45 studies, only two focused on how communities adapt to changes: one on social, ecological and agricultural adaptation, and the other on climate variability. Therefore, baseline information and a better design of counterfactuals are necessary to evaluate the progress and make better decisions around contract renewals (Duchelle et al. 2018).

Other challenges include the limited and slow funding, which makes it difficult to establish long-term commitments, the tension between REDD+ goals and the need to retain some local adaptive capacity and resilience to changes and shocks, the application of long-term rules for forest protection and restoration when livelihoods are not carefully integrated into conservation goals, gender participation and information sharing, and lack of secure land tenure (Duchelle et al. 2018; Hajjar et al. 2021; Wunder et al. 2020).

4.4 Carbon markets

Description

Since the end of the 1990s, with the signing of the Kyoto Protocol in 1997, emissions trading systems (ETS) and the clean development mechanism (CDM) have been implemented as promising mandatory mechanisms to address pollution control, tackle climate change, and redistribute the associated costs of climate action. The underlying logic of ETS is that emitters (usually developed countries in the Global North) offset their emissions via the financing of emissions reductions in low- and middle-income countries. Similarly, CDM (known as the Sustainable Development Mechanism after the 2015 Paris Accord) enables a country with an emission-reduction target to implement reduction projects in other countries, primarily low-income and developing countries, and balance out the overall level of emissions.

Impact

We reviewed papers analyzing ETS and CDM experiences worldwide. Green (2021) reviews articles since the 2000s and finds 37 peer-reviewed studies that assess the causal effects of ETS on emissions reduction. Green found a high concentration of research in the Global North, particularly in Europe and in sectors other than agriculture. Results of this analysis show that the aggregate effect on emissions is in the range of 0–2% per year and that carbon taxes are in general a better policy option in terms of cost-effectiveness than ETS. The effects of carbon pricing instruments in the developing world are yet to be fully understood. Peñasco et al. (2021) report a limited impact of greenhouse gases (GHG) allowances and similar tradable certificates on environmental effectiveness, which includes meeting targets of emission reductions and energy savings.

Despite better agricultural activities being crucial for carbon sequestration, we find no evidence of the impact of carbon pricing instruments on farm-level outcomes. A possible explanation is that key challenges still affect farmers' participation in informal and formal carbon markets, including small carbon payments, high uncertainty about the benefits of soil carbon sequestration and high transaction costs (De Pinto et al. 2010; Shames 2013). Some studies show a high mitigation potential of GHG emissions from cropland management, degraded land restoration and protection of carbon

stocks (Smith et al. 2007 and 2008 in De Pinto et al. 2010). For the Global South, examples in Colombia and Peru reportedly show that coffee farmers can reduce carbon emission to the point of becoming carbon-negative (0.5 tonnes or less CO₂ equivalent per hectare) within three years of participation in a carbon market scheme designed by Rabobank, an agricultural bank, and Solidaridad, an international civil society organization (Solidaridad Network 2021). Other results show increased carbon sequestration via increased density of coffee and shade trees. Nevertheless, reports beyond incipient case studies that demonstrate impact are lacking.

In contrast to REDD+ or PES, the reviewed articles on carbon markets do not explore welfare impacts, meaning that the overall impact of carbon pricing instruments might be underestimated. This is a gap that must be bridged, in particular for agricultural landscapes in the Global South. Similarly, we did not find household- or community-level literature on the equity effects of carbon markets. However, cross-country research shows that equity impacts of carbon pricing instruments are mixed. Ohlendorf et al. (2021) re-analyze data from 53 studies on the distributional effects of carbon pricing and find that carbon pricing policies increase the likelihood of progressive outcomes (benefiting the poor more than the rich) in low- and middle-income countries, while regressive outcomes are more likely in developed countries (however, this paper does not cover the rural or agrifood sectors so it is unknown whether this conclusion is relevant). Also, they find that carbon pricing instruments do not offer additional benefits in terms of progressive outcomes compared to carbon taxes and subsidies. Other recent research shows similar null and some negative impacts for GHG trading systems (Peñasco et al. 2021).

Success factors and challenges

As in the case of the other economic incentives for conservation, the success of carbon pricing instruments depends on the capacity to produce verifiable emission reductions and other environmental benefits. It has been widely recommended that programs establish robust emissions baselines and clear targeting criteria to avoid selection bias by accounting for factors that determine program participation (Bushnell 2010; Murray and Jenkins 2010). Sequestration and emissions rates, aggregate pollution and observable individual actions are some of the measurement units that can be used to evaluate the functioning of carbon markets. Further, carbon markets produce additional benefits and costs for suppliers besides environmental benefits. These co-benefits and co-costs, as they are called, are usually unevenly distributed across geographical areas. For example, some evidence suggests that income support and higher agricultural commodities prices are among the additional benefits of carbon markets (Feng 2005).

An important challenge for carbon markets is the reallocation of emissions into non-monitored zones (leakage). To address this, policymakers could establish "leakage belts" within targeted areas and also broaden the geographical scope of the program given existing budget constraints (Murray and Jenkins 2010). Also, remote sensing, aerial photography or field inspections are monitoring strategies that support dynamic adjustment (González-Ramírez et al. 2012). Moreover, these programs require the design of pricing policies that are responsive to existing fuel prices and abatement costs, crucial factors that explain carbon market success in terms of environmental additionality (Michaelowa et al. 2019; Newell et al. 2014).

The loss of stored carbon stocks (non-permanence) is another challenge for carbon-sequestering activities. In particular, the risks of non-permanence are particularly relevant in agricultural activities

that promote the temporary storage of carbon in the soil through, for example, reducing tillage. Envisioning payment strategies that account for the non-permanent nature of carbon sinks is fundamental to how these trading schemes work (García-Oliva and Masera 2004; Murray et al. 2007).

5. Other financial instruments and funding sources

According to Havemann et al. (2020), there exists a "high-level funding gap for sustainable agriculture" that cannot be met with traditional investment markets. Limited credit access is an important reason why farmers under-invest in more new agricultural technologies, including sustainable and cleaner inputs and practices. In low-income countries, formal credit and insurance institutions are usually absent or operate in a limited capacity in rural areas. Land tenure problems and uninsurable risks limit the ability of financial markets to supply the resources required for farm investments. In contrast, farmers in developed economies may have access to financial products not tailored to their specific needs, or that only respond to investments in productivity or marketing growth in traditional agricultural value chains. Therefore, financial instruments that help to solve farmers' credit and liquidity constraints are key to the transition to sustainable agriculture.

We identified financial vehicles that can be used to support sustainability-oriented projects. It is important to note that most projects do not incorporate mitigation but focus primarily on land-use change and adaptation to climate change. The first is catalytic investments and it groups financial instruments that pool resources from several sources to fund agriculture and economic development projects with a broad scope of environmental and social objectives, for instance, to enhance conservation or reduce poverty. The second is biodiversity offsets, which are voluntary or regulatory compensations used to offset the impact of infrastructure and development projects causing environmental and social losses. In our review, we did not find independent impact evaluations or systematic assessment in the literature for either of these groups, despite some of them being frequently used. Most of the analyzed cases report results using institutional documents and for actors with specific interests in the success of each instrument. For example, private venture funds selfreport the progress of sustainability goals achieved by projects in their portfolio.

The application of novel financial tools in agriculture is important because they enable investments in sustainability-oriented projects. The potential of financial tools to solve farmers' financial constraints, and ultimately the funding gap for sustainable agriculture, relies heavily on their ability to help beneficiaries and investors manage risk more efficiently. For both of these actors, new technology may be intrinsically risky, and even riskier for projects with uncertain prospects under rapid climate change. So, financial sources from impact investment and biodiversity offsets can address these concerns by diversifying risks among several sustainability-related projects and also crowding in the support of governments and multilateral institutions. Further, a key feature of these financial tools is their potential to promote sustainable technological change without necessarily restricting land use. However, improved access to financial sources can also lead to investments in technologies with high environmental impact, highlighting the need for a robust set of principles that promote practices and inputs that help farmers balance efficiency and sustainability goals.

5.1 Catalytic investments

The group of catalytic or impact investments includes green and development bonds, institutional grants, venture capital and microcredit instruments. Sustainable and green bonds mimic the regular fixed income financial instruments, in which institutional investors fund projects and are promised a

fixed rate of return after a period of time. As the name implies, sustainable and green bonds funds are used to invest in projects ranging from resilient agriculture, sanitation and education to social protection. For example, one of the largest bond issuers is the World Bank, with 75 USD billion issued in 2020 alone. The scale of this investment reportedly translated into impacts for millions of people, especially in low-income countries. In particular, the World Bank (2020) reports hundreds of thousands of farmers reached with improved agricultural technologies, assets and services by 14 projects funded worldwide. In a similar fashion, private companies issue thematic bonds, usually green bonds tied to broad environmental goals. These bonds help companies raise money to fund their activities and allow them to meet standards or regulations that are set by law or self-imposed. In most cases, the rate of return of these bonds is conditional to achieving the desired impact, so failing to do so implies a higher financing cost for companies.

Other funding sources include targeted investments from social venture capital and microfinance products. These investments work as traditional financial investments with the main difference that they narrow the scope and focus of their portfolio to channel funds toward sustainable and environmental projects. For instance, a common practice is to avoid investments related to fossil fuels while targeting renewable energy projects. In cases like these, investors benefit from the project's return on investment but also from the reputational aspects derived from targeting investment. In our review, we found that most of the impact investment funds operate in the Global North.⁶ Although all cases report positive environmental and social impacts of their investments, there are no independent assessments of these results. At the same time, investment portfolios commonly combine other potential outcomes, including environmental protection with investments that are highly extractive of local natural resources, and still yield net positive results to investors.⁷

Although microcredit and similar financial products have shown mixed results, especially in poverty reduction efforts, the literature still recognizes in them great potential for impact (Hermes and Lensink 2011). In recent years, derived from the work of innovation hubs such as The Global Innovation Lab for Climate Finance, microfinance and financial products destined for sustainability projects have been implemented. An example is the Small Farmers Climate Adaptation Fund in Peru, Nicaragua, Costa Rica, Guatemala, El Salvador, Honduras and Ecuador, which enables local microfinance organizations to support farmers' climate adaptation projects (Add-Value Management 2020). In the case of Ecuador, for instance, resources are pooled from several private and institutional investors through Kiva—an NGO located in San Francisco, California—and then used to support four rural microcredit organizations that lend money to farmers to invest in water and irrigation systems, and greenhouse and organic production, among other projects.

An additional funding source is institutional grants. Examples include foundations that fund a diverse array of projects around the world, including the SWIFT, the David and Lucile Packard, and Gates

⁶ These cases include Iroquois Valley Farm Land helping small farmers convert to organic agriculture in the northeast of the USA, Climate Forest Capital offering blended financial instruments to farmers in partnership with an environmental organization in tropical forest countries and Agriculture Capital and Farmland LP investing in regenerative agriculture in the USA and Australia.

⁷ As reported in the survey of investors conducted by the David & Lucile Packard Foundation, the Gordon and Betty Moore Foundation, The Nature Conservancy and JPMorgan Chase & Co. (2014).

Foundations. While these grants do not seek a financial return on the projects, they require that grantees demonstrate the impact of the investments made in terms of sustainability and development goals. An important feature of institutional grants is that funds can be allocated directly to beneficiaries.

Despite the fact that many of these instruments can be effective in allocating investments at a large scale, mostly because their design has specialized in traditional financial markets over time, their use can be limited in the developing world. These instruments match investors with far apart projects, which are often small and difficult to monitor. This greater distance implies the need for intermediaries, such as financial institutions and regulators, which in many low-income countries are deficient in the first place. As a consequence, unrestricted non-compliance can limit impact if the means of enforcing contracts are not readily available. A recent survey by the Global Impact Investing Network (GIIN 2020) shows that the main concern for impact investors is "impact washing". More than two-thirds of the sampled investor groups, particularly those in developing markets, indicated that exaggerated reporting of results was the main challenge faced by the impact investment market in the next five years. Importantly, the inability to demonstrate impact results was ranked second.

5.2 Biodiversity offsets

Biodiversity offsets (bio-offsets) are a compensatory measure that intends to compensate for unavoidable losses in biodiversity due to infrastructure or development projects. Since the end of the 1990s, bio-offsets have gained momentum among the public and private sector and the concept of "no net loss" is now increasingly being used. However, challenges exist in terms of demonstrating ecological equivalence between ecological impacts of different types that occur in distinct temporal and geographical scales. Hence, compensatory measures such as offsets should be used "only after exhausting the previous steps on the mitigation hierarchy: avoidance and minimization" (Gonçalves et al. 2015).

We did not find any review paper or meta-analysis of bio-offsetting focused in the Global South. In contrast, there is a high concentration of studies in the Global North, with the US, France, Canada and Australia leading most of the case studies. This represents an opportunity for researching countries in this region that are promoting bio-offsets through, for instance, requiring its application via legal mandates as has happened in Colombia, Brazil, Mexico and Peru. Our review also highlighted that the most commonly cited reason for off-setting success was applying high offset multipliers (i.e., large offset area relative to the impacted area) (zu Ermgassen et al. 2019). However, evidence of additionality is limited due to compliance and monitoring shortcomings of these programs (Bull et al. 2013). Also, some evidence suggests that in many cases bio-offsets policies could bring benefits at the expense of net losses in biodiversity (Curran et al. 2014).

In our review, we found that offset metrics and the scale of impact are the most reported critical issues of offsets (Gonçalves et al. 2015). Offset metrics refer to how losses are measured and are compared to gains. This issue involves a debate on whether biodiversity can be converted into a single metric and exchanged across time and space. In terms of the scale of impact, on-site offsets are those that are implemented in the vicinity of the damaged area. These types of offsets were common at the early stages of bio-offsetting under the premise that they were contributing to the restoration of the impacted area. However, more recent cases of offsets are located off-site because of their potential of constituting a source of conservation funding for other initiatives.

Instrument	Environmental impacts	Economic impacts	Equity impacts	Strengths	Weaknesses
Payments for Ecosystem Services (PES)	 -Reduces deforestation in contexts of high rates of deforestation -Increases forest cover -Promotes the adoption of sustainable land-use practices 	-Potential for increasing household incomes	 -Could reinforce pre- existent inequities in farm size and tenure -Could redistribute benefits improving collective well-being -Potential to reduce perceived land tenure insecurity 	 -Direct transfer from users to providers -Flexible design that allows fitting to specific contexts -Includes a wide range of activities that support ES provision (not only forest conservation) 	 -Risk of leakage (prohibited activities shift to non-PES areas) -Risk of elite capture -Risk of motivational crowding out
Voluntary Sustainability Standards (VSS)	 -Improves tree cover in 43% of cases -Promotes the adoption of sustainable land-use practices 	-Median and mean income improve with VSS -Reduced volatility -Mixed effects on yields	-Benefit early adopters (more professional and wealthier farmers) over laggers	 -Links conservation to global value chains -Open new markets as long as consumers value certified products 	 -Risk of leakage -Farm-level focus with no guarantee of landscape-level impact -Only works in global commodity chains with reputational risk -Transition to certified products is costly

Table 3. Summary of environmental, economic and equity impacts of instruments.

Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and forest Degradation (REDD+)	 -Avoids deforestation -Increased reforestation and afforestation -Increased efforts to reduce illegal logging -Reduced biodiversity from afforestation 	-Increased community physical capital and development projects -Mixed results on incomes	-Community participation in monitoring and decision making -Potentially limits communities' ability to use forest resources and adapt to change	-Connects marginalized forest communities to Global North's carbon emitters -Adheres to international standards for verification	 -Only a third of REDD+ projects have sold verified carbon credits -Risk of elite capture -Risk of losing agricultural lands or grazing rights -Rigidity in land-use rules
Carbon Markets	-Very limited impact in terms of emissions reductions	-Not explored in the literature	-Not explored in the literature	Emerging results show: -Potential for lower compliance costs when measured indirectly -Co-benefits in terms of income support -Higher agricultural commodities prices	-Risk of leakage -Monitoring and verification relies on external agents

Key:

Strong positive evidence (significant differences between treatment and control groups) Weak positive evidence (qualitative or non-comparative quantitative evidence) Inconclusive evidence (not assessed)

6. Discussion

In this review, we focused on a sample of tools, based on economic incentives that have been used for environmental conservation, and identified their potential to support the agricultural transition toward sustainability (see a summary in Table 3). Despite their limitations, and scant independent and sound impact assessments, these instruments could tackle some of the barriers that the agricultural sector face, in particular small- and medium-scale farmers in the developing world, to engage in more sustainable, equitable and profitable practices to protect and restore nature.

The economic incentives we reviewed relate to three drivers of the transition toward sustainable agriculture. A large portion of the instruments we review create markets to change the incentives of farmers and consumers and increase or maintain sustainable practices and ES. One of the most important challenges of sustainable agriculture is that often there are no economic incentives to change undesired behaviors. As a result, farm practices with high and adverse impacts persist, despite the negative externalities they cause. Similarly, good practices are not rewarded, limiting their scalability and reducing the provision of public goods and services derived from positive externalities. In many cases, however, the key issue is not that these goods and services are not valuable, but rather that there are no mechanisms matching the supply and demand for sustainable agricultural practices, which limits the benefits they provide. The instruments we reviewed have the potential to create or promote such mechanisms: PES and REDD+ schemes facilitate a market for services otherwise neglected; VSS promote the market of good practices; and carbon pricing mechanisms potentially help to value and allocate carbon stocks more efficiently. Any market for sustainability requires monetizing aspects of the environment and thus the behavior of farmers and other resource users. Given that the value of forests and carbon stocks is not commonly incorporated in the decision making of agricultural production, REDD+ projects, PES, PACS and carbon pricing instruments can decrease the opportunity cost of conservation and reduce the pressure for land expansions in agriculture.

However, in the process of creating these markets, tensions arise, notably the tradeoffs between equity, efficiency and scale. The ability of these instruments to address these tensions seems to be modest, but more research is required to estimate their net social and economic impacts. Our discussion of all of these novel instruments helped us identify a number of areas where innovation can be promoted to enhance their performance and broaden their scope to include, for instance, not only forest remnants but the full range of agricultural practices and the biomes where they take place.

6.1 Opportunities for innovation in equity, efficiency and scalability

The success of the instruments studied depends on how well they are designed and adapted to the local conditions of farmers and beneficiaries. Both PES and REDD + can be tailored to respond to local conditions, generate trust, increase participation, democratize decision making and promote transparency (Duchelle et al. 2018; Wunder et al. 2020). Despite their potential, implementation has also shown that many challenges remain. An important example is scalability, which seems to require expanding the number of actors that mediate transactions. As the number of users and providers of ES increase, as more farmers and consumers are linked to commodity chains, as more granting institutions and grantees, or more impact investors and entrepreneurs meet, more private

intermediaries and public regulators are needed to help enforce contracts, monitor progress, and estimate impacts (Huber-Stearns et al. 2013). This greater intermediation can lead to problems that can limit the efficiency of these instruments, such as corruption and elite capture, which underscores the tradeoffs between efficacy and scalability.

In terms of equity and scale, for instruments such as PES and VSS, gains in scale come at the cost of excluding smaller landholders, who are usually numerous and geographically dispersed. As transaction costs are higher when including several small-scale farmers, some programs deliberately exclude marginalized communities exacerbating pre-existent inequities. One possible manner to overcome the equity versus efficiency trade-off is to experiment with collective and/or differentiated payments by targeting larger and more dense ES areas while redistributing program benefits among more socially and economically vulnerable participants. The PES program in Selva Lacandona, Mexico, for example, lowers transaction costs by enrolling communities instead of households, favoring the scaling up of the program (Izquierdo-Tort 2020). The SocioBosque program in Ecuador, for instance, differentiates payments according to the number of enrolled hectares of forest (de Koning et al. 2011). Payments decrease as the number of enrolled hectares increase so as to not favor large landholders over small farmers. In Colombia, a public PES program incorporates social vulnerability variables into its payment structure with the objective of favoring vulnerable households that engage in conservation activities (Moros 2019).

In addition, the economic instruments we reviewed need to be redefined and adjusted for broader use in different contexts. For example, some instruments are too focused on restricting access to forest resources and limiting agricultural expansion (Ezzine-de-Blas et al. 2016). Such limitations could put livelihoods at risk. To balance equity and effectiveness, PES and REDD+ instruments can place more emphasis on the propagation of silvopastoral, agroforestry and traditional farming systems, so that rural communities in remote areas can support their livelihoods from both agriculture and environmental conservation. Silvopastoral systems funded by the Global Environment Facility in Nicaragua, Costa Rica and Colombia demonstrate this is feasible and promote farmers' engagement in conservation programs (Pagiola et al. 2004). The PES and REDD+ in degraded lands also offer an opportunity for additionality in biodiversity conservation, carbon sequestration and rural livelihoods.

The potential of carbon markets to promote land-use change and sustainable agriculture is yet to be seen because major carbon markets ignore interventions in the agricultural sector (Grosjean et al. 2016). Further, the current household- and individual-level impacts of carbon pricing seem to be limited, and there is little or no evidence for low- and medium-income countries. However, linkages between different instruments can be used to generate impact and promote sustainable agriculture. Carbon pricing schemes can be an outlet for programs that already impact agricultural and forest management. For example, the carbon stocks valuation and monitoring that REDD+ projects implement in local communities can work as the base of carbon trading systems via emission credits or green bonds.

In the case of VSS, scaling up these practices would require innovations in both supply and demand. On the supply side, investments in production technologies and extension services are needed to reduce adoption costs. On the demand side, certifications and codes of conduct need to be expanded to cover non-branded, local-market products. Public purchasing programs for schools, hospitals and other public institutions can be the pull needed to start moving local supply chains toward sustainability in the Global South markets. New financial tools such as crowd investment and other forms of democratizing funding can be directed toward strengthening VSS in local supply chains.

6.2 Opportunities for innovation in participation and monitoring

To make these instruments effective policy tools, their design needs to strike a balance between punishments and rewards. The voluntary nature of some instruments limits their design to include strict penalties. Some implementers can see these instruments as an opportunity to disseminate good practices in the hope that farmers will adopt them for their conservation motivations, rather than the existence of a conditional payment or a penalty for non-compliance. In the long run, unchecked non-compliance can undermine the functioning of any program if the stakeholders do not face any downside of negative behaviors.

Wide and effective participation of communities in the design, implementation and monitoring of compliance is another key aspect that needs to be strengthened across instruments. The REDD+ schemes, for example, have failed to include the voices of marginalized members of communities, sharpening pre-existing social conflicts or creating new ones. When asymmetries of information are high (such as in the case of carbon markets and REDD+), transparency in contracts and government support are fundamental not only to avoid undesired effects in terms of social conflict and reversal of tenure rights but to ensure the program's success over time. The role of governments is crucial to oversee and regulate private and voluntary instruments in which disparities in knowledge and power exist.

Further, land users can play more definitive roles in training and monitoring, an alternative shown to be cost-effective, at least in one case in Kenya (Duchelle et al. 2017). High dependence on extension services and external agricultural support, particularly in the short and medium terms, undermines farmers' resilience to changing environmental or market conditions. Horizontal knowledge and technology transfers appear to be a promising way to increase land-users' adaptive capacity because it decreases dependence on external agents.

6.3 Opportunities for innovation in spatial targeting

Most of the instruments studied here are voluntary in nature and only target specific ecosystems or land-covers. As a result, the landscape matrix is dotted by a few dispersed efforts for sustainability that do not add to ecosystem-wide conservation and regional sustainable livelihoods. To produce significant ecosystem-wide efforts, VSS and PES could be clustered to cover all stakeholders in a specific region, adopting what has been called jurisdictional approaches (von Esen and Lambin 2021) that address not just actors in a value chain or forest remnants in a landscape mosaic, but the entire landscape, including all land uses and users. Such approaches can also reduce the risk of leakage, as entire areas are covered by the schemes. Because most of the cases identified are in the early stages of their life cycle, evidence of their impacts is not yet available (von Ese and Lambin 2021).

Similarly, it is necessary to expand the scope of REDD+ and deliberately start covering and recognizing the existence of low-intensity agriculture within forests. Practices, such as slash-and-burn agriculture and rotation systems in forests, have been traditional for indigenous communities and could be accommodated in PES and REDD+ schemes, allowing for more flexible and adaptive use of the forest.

A more inclusive, landscape-level scale can mitigate the risk of exclusion of farmers in marginal, degraded or small plots. A combination of moratoria and PES has been proposed for the most marginalized farmers in the Brazilian Cerrado (Garrett et al. 2022) as a way of introducing more legitimacy in conservation efforts that would otherwise primarily benefit large owners. Those farmers can be given a small portion of the benefits provided by the incentives, while they work in improving their practices. Laggers and non-compliant actors should be the focus of educational campaigns, positive incentives (such as subsidized access to green equipment) and negative ones (such as limited access to credit for non-sustainable practices). Mechanisms and technologies for making PES more equitable have been recently proposed in ways that encourage larger owners to share benefits with their smaller counterparts (Bell 2021).

7. Conclusion

Agriculture is critical for the livelihood of millions of people worldwide and is one of the main drivers of deforestation, biodiversity loss and resource degradation. In this paper, we set out to comprehend how different economic instruments created to promote the conservation of strategic ecosystems can support the changes needed toward sustainable agriculture. We identified key success factors and challenges of PES, REDD+, VSS and carbon markets as well as their strengths and weaknesses based on a revision of synthesis and meta-analysis studies with a focus on the Global South. We discussed the potential and shortcomings of these economic mechanisms and identified priorities for innovation in three areas: (i) equity, efficiency and scalability; (ii) participation and monitoring; and (iii) spatial targeting. Economic instruments for conservation could support the transitions needed toward sustainable agriculture if equity considerations are incorporated from design to implementation, land users participate in different stages of program roll-out and jurisdictional approaches are implemented.

References

- Add-Value Management. 2020. Climate adaptation technical assessment and market validation of a group of MFIs and their smallholder farmer clients in Guatemala, El Salvador, Honduras, and Ecuador. Available at https://www.addvaluesa.com/new-study-to-introduce-climate-adaptation-measures-in-latin-america/ (accessed on November 5, 2020).
- Antarciuc, E.; Zhu, Q.; Almarri, J.; Zhao, S.; Feng, Y.; Agyemang, M. 2018. Sustainable venture capital investments: an enabler investigation. *Sustainability* 10(4): 1204. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10041204
- Bell, A.R. 2021. From Mario Kart to pro-poor environmental governance. *Nature Sustainability* 4(5): 376-378.
- Bennett, M.T. 2008. China's sloping land conversion program: Institutional innovation or business as usual? *Ecological Economics* 65: 699-711.
- Benton, T.G.; Bieg, C.; Harwatt, H.; Pudasaini, R.; Wellesley, L. 2021. *Food system impacts on biodiversity loss. Three levers for food system transformation in support of nature*. London, Chatham House.
- Bigger, P.; Christiansen, J.; Dempsey, J.; DiSilvestro, D.; Irvine-Broque, A.; Nelson, S.; Disilvestro, A.; Schuldt, A.; Shapiro-Garza, E. 2021. Beyond the gap: placing biodiversity finance in the global economy. Available https://eprints.lancs.ac.uk/id/eprint/155366/1/BeyondTheGapcompletereport.pdf (accessed on April 1, 2022).
- Börner, J.; Baylis, K.; Corbera, E.; Ezzine-de-Blas, D.; Honey-Rosés, J.; Persson, U.M.; Wunder, S. 2017.
 The effectiveness of payments for environmental services. *World Development* 96: 359-374. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2017.03.020
- Börner, J.; Schulz, D.; Wunder, S.; Pfaff, A. 2020. The effectiveness of forest conservation policies and programs. Annual Review of Resource Economics 12(1): 45-64. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-resource-110119-025703
- Brown, D.; Seymour, F.; and Peskett, L. 2008. How do we achieve REDD co-benefits and avoid doing harm? In: *Moving ahead with REDD: issues, options and implications*, (ed.), Angelsen, A.;
 Bogor, Center for International Forestry Research (CIFOR). Pp. 107-118.
- Bull, J.W.; Suttle, K.B.; Gordon, A.; Singh, N.J.; Milner-Gulland, E.J. 2013. Biodiversity offsets in theory and practice. *Oryx* 47(3): 369-380. https://doi.org/10.1017/S003060531200172X
- Bushnell, J. 2010. *The economics of carbon offsets*. National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper Series No. 16305. Cambridge, MA, USA.
- Claassen, R.; Cattaneo, A.; Johansson, R. 2008. Cost-effective design of agri-environmental payment programs: U.S. experience in theory and practice. *Ecological Economics* 65: 737-752.
- Corbera, E.; Brown, K.; Adger, N.W. 2007. The equity and legitimacy of markets for ecosystem services. Development and Change 38(4): 587-613. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7660.2007.00425.x
- Costedoat, S.; Corbera, E.; Ezzine-de-Blas, D.; Honey-Rosés, J.; Baylis, K.; Castillo-Santiago, M.A. 2015. How effective are biodiversity conservation payments in Mexico? *PLoS ONE* 10(3): e0119881. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0119881

- Curran, M.; Hellweg, S.; Beck, J. 2014. Is there any empirical support for biodiversity offset policy? *Ecological Applications* 24(4): 617-632. https://doi.org/10.1890/13-0243.1
- David & Lucile Packard Foundation, Gordon and Betty Moore Foundation, The Nature Conservancy, and JPMorgan Chase & Co. 2014. *Investing in conservation: a landscape assessment of an emerging* market. Available at https://impact.jpmorganchase.com/content/dam/jpmc/jpmorgan-chase-andco/documents/InvestingInConservation_Report_r2.pdf (accessed on April 1, 2022).
- DeFries, R.; Fanzo, J.; Mondal, P.; Remans, R.; Wood, A. 2017. Voluntary certification of tropical agricultural commodities achieving sustainability goals for small-scale producers? A review of the evidence. *Environmental Research Letters* 12(3): 3001.
- De Koning, F.; Aguiñaga, M.; Bravo, M.; Chiu, M.; Lascano, M.; Lozada, T.; Suarez, L. (2011). Bridging the gap between forest conservation and poverty alleviation: the Ecuadorian Socio Bosque program. *Environmental Science and Policy* 14(5): 531-542. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2011.04.007
- De Pinto, A.; Magalhaes, M.; Ringler, C. 2010. *Potential of carbon markets for small farmers: a literature review*, IFPRI discussion papers 1004, International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI).
- Drucker, A.G.; Ramirez, M. 2020. Payments for agrobiodiversity conservation services: An overview of Latin American experiences, lessons learned and upscaling challenges. *Land Use Policy* 99: 104810. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2020.104810
- Duchelle, A.E.; de Sassi, C.; Jagger, P.; Cromberg, M.; Larson, A.M.; Sunderlin, W.D.; et al. 2017. Balancing carrots and sticks in REDD+: implications for social safeguards. Ecology and Society 22(3): 2. https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-09334-220302
- Duchelle, A.E.; Simonet, G.; Sunderlin, W.D.; Wunder, S. 2018. What is REDD+ achieving on the ground? *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability* 32: 134-140. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2018.07.001
- Eakin, H.; Rueda, X.; Mahanti, A. 2017. Transforming governance in telecoupled food systems. *Ecology and Society* 22(4): https://doi.org/10.5751/es-09831-220432
- EDF & CFC. 2020. Catalytic capital and agriculture opportunities to invest in healthy soils, resilient farms and a stable climate. Report. Available at https://www.edf.org/sites/default/files/content/Catalytic-Capital-and-Agriculture-2020.pdf (accessed on April 1, 2022).
- Engel, S. 2016. The devil in the detail: a practical guide on designing payments for environmental services. *International Review of Environmental and Resource Economics* 9(1-2): 131-177
- Ezzine-De-Blas, D.; Wunder, S.; Ruiz-Pérez, M.; Del Pilar Moreno-Sanchez, R. 2016. Global patterns in the implementation of payments for environmental services. *PLoS ONE* 11(3): 1-16. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0149847
- FAO. 2020. Emissions due to agriculture. Global, regional and country trends 2000-2018. Available at http://www.fao.org/3/cb3808en/cb3808en.pdf
- FAO; UNDP; UNEP. 2021. A Multi-Billion-Dollar Opportunity Repurposing Agricultural Support to Transform Food Systems. In Brief. Rome, Italy: FAO; UNDP; UNEP. http://www.fao.org/documents/card/en/c/CB6683EN
- Feng, H. 2005. The dynamics of carbon sequestration and alternative carbon accounting, with an application to the Upper Mississippi River Basin. *Ecological Economics* 54: 23-35.

Fuenfschilling, L. 2019. An institutional perspective on sustainability transitions. In: The *handbook of sustainable innovation*, (eds.) Boons F.; McMeekin, A.; Edward Elgar Publishing. Pp. 219-236.

- García-Oliva F, Masera, O.R. 2004. Assessment and measurement issues related to soil carbon sequestration in land-use, land-use change, and forestry (LULUCF) projects under the Kyoto Protocol. *Climate Change* 65: 347-364.
- Garrett, R.D.; Levy, S.A.; Gollnow, F.; Hodel, L.; Rueda, X. 2021. Have food supply chain policies improved forest conservation and rural livelihoods? A systematic review. *Environmental Research Letters* 16(3): 33002. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/abe0ed
- Garrett, R.D.; Grabs, J.; Cammelli, F.; Gollnow, F.; Levy, S.A. 2022. Should payments for environmental services be used to implement zero-deforestation supply chain policies? The case of soy in the Brazilian Cerrado. *World Development* 152: 105814.
- Gelcich, S.; Vargas, C.; Carreras, M.J.; Castilla, J.C.; Donlan, C.J. (2017). Achieving biodiversity benefits with offsets: research gaps, challenges, and needs. *Ambio* 46(2): 184-189. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-016-0810-9
- GIIN (Global Impact Investing Network). 2020. Annual Impact Investor Survey. Available at https://thegiin.org/research/publication/impinv-survey-2020
- Gonçalves, B.M.; Soares, A.; Amadeu Pereira, H. 2015. Biodiversity offsets: from current challenges to harmonized metrics. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability* 14: 61-67. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2015.03.008
- González-Ramírez, J.; Kling, C.L.; Valcu, A. 2012. An overview of carbon offsets from agriculture. *Annual Review of Resource Economics* 4(1): 145-160. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-resource-083110-120016
- Green, J.F. 2021. Does carbon pricing reduce emissions? A review of ex-post analyses. *Environmental Research Letters* 16(4): 043004. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/abdae9
- Grosjean, G.; Fuss, S.; Koch, N.; Bodirsky, B.L.; De Cara, S.; Acworth, W. 2016. Options to overcome the barriers to pricing European agricultural emissions. *Climate Policy* 18(2): 151-169. https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2016.1258630
- Hajjar, R.; Engbring, G.; Kornhauser, K. 2021. The impacts of REDD+ on the social-ecological resilience of community forests. *Environmental Research Letters* 16(2): 024001. https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/abd7ac
- Havemann, T.; Negra, C.; Werneck, F. 2020. Blended finance for agriculture: exploring the constraints and possibilities of combining financial instruments for sustainable transitions. *Agriculture and Human Values* 37(4): 1281-1292. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10460-020-10131-8
- Hendrickson, C.Y.; Corbera, E. 2015. Participation dynamics and institutional change in the Scolel Te´ Carbon Forestry Project, Chiapas, Mexico. *Geoforum* 59: 63-72.
- Hermes, N.; Lensink, R. 2011. Microfinance: its impact, outreach, and sustainability. *World Development* 39(6): 875-881. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2009.10.021
- Huber-Stearns, H.R.; Goldstein, J.H.; Duke, E.A. 2013. Intermediary roles and payments for ecosystem services: A typology and program feasibility application in Panama. *Ecosystem Services* 6: 104-116.
- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change). 2019. Climate change and land: an IPCC special report on climate change, desertification, land degradation, sustainable land management, food security, and greenhouse gas fluxes in terrestrial ecosystems, (eds.) M. Ferrat, E.

Haughey, S. Luz, S. Neogi, M. Pathak, J. Petzold, J. Portugal Pereira, P. Vyas, E. Huntley, K. Kissick, M. Belkacemi, J. Malley. Geneva, Switzerland: IPCC.

- Izquierdo-Tort, S. 2020. Payments for ecosystem services and conditional cash transfers in a policy mix: Microlevel interactions in Selva Lacandona, Mexico. *Environmental Policy and Governance* 30(1): 29-45. https://doi.org/10.1002/eet.1876
- Jayachandran, S.; De Laat, J.; Lambin, E.F.; Stanton, C.Y.; Audy, R.; Thomas, N.E. 2017. Cash for carbon: a randomized trial of payments for ecosystem services to reduce deforestation. *Science* 357(6348): 267-273.
- Lambin, E.F.; Meyfroidt, P.; Rueda, X.; Blackman, A.; Börner, J.; Cerutti, P.O.; Dietsch, T.; Jungmann, L.; Lamarque, P.; Lister, J.; Walker, N.F.; Wunder, S. 2014. Effectiveness and synergies of policy instruments for land use governance in tropical regions. *Global Environmental Change* 28: 129-140.
- Lockie, S. 2020. Failure or reform? Market-based policy instruments for sustainable agriculture and resource management. Abingdon, UK, Routledge.
- Luttrell, C.; Betteridge, B. 2017. Lessons for multi-level REDD+ benefit-sharing from revenue distribution in extractive resource sectors (oil, gas and mining). Center for International Forestry Research (CIFOR). https://doi.org/10.17528/cifor/006385
- Meemken, E.-M. 2020. Do smallholder farmers benefit from sustainability standards? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Global Food Security* 26: 100373. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gfs.2020.100373
- Muñoz-Piña C, Guevara A, Torres JM, Braña J. 2008. Paying for the hydrological services of Mexico's forests: analysis, negotiations and results. *Ecological Economics* 65: 725-736.
- Michaelowa, A.; Shishlov, I.; Brescia, D. 2019. Evolution of international carbon markets: lessons for the Paris Agreement. *Climate Change* 10(6): https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.613
- Milne, S.; Adams, B. 2012. Market masquerades: uncovering the politics of community-level payments for environmental services in Cambodia. *Development and Change* 43(1): 133-158. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-7660.2011.01748.x
- Moros, L. 2019. Payments for ecosystem services in Colombia: discourses, design and motivation crowding. Doctoral Thesis. Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona.
- Moros, L.; Matallana, J.; Beltrán, M.F. 2020. *Pagos por Servicios Ambientales y Objetivos de Desarrollo Sostenible en América Latina: ¿Hacia dónde deben Orientarse?* Bogotá: Centro de los Objetivos de Desarrollo Sostenible para América Latina. Available at https://cods.uniandes.edu.co/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/CODS_DOCS_06.pdf (accessed on April 1, 2022).
- Muradian, R.; Arsel, M.; Pellegrini, L.; Adaman, F.; Aguilar, B.; Agarwal, B.; Corbera, E.; Ezzine de Blas, D.; Farley, J.; Froger, G.; Garcia-Frapolli, E.; Gómez-Baggethun, E.; Gowdy, J.; Kosoy, N.; Le Coq, J.F.; Leroy, P.; May, P.; Méral, P.; Mibielli, P.; ... Urama, K. 2013. Payments for ecosystem services and the fatal attraction of win-win solutions. *Conservation Letters* 6(4): 274-279.
- Murray B.C.; Jenkins, W.A. 2010. *Designing cap and trade to account for "imperfect" offsets*. Duke Environmental Economics Working Paper EE 10-03 V2, Duke University, Durham, NC, USA.
- Murray, B.C.; Sohngen, B.; Ross, M.T. 2007. Economic consequences of consideration of permanence, leakage and additionality for soil carbon sequestration projects. *Climatic Change* 80: 127-143. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-006-9169-4

- Narassimhan, E.; Gallagher, K.S.; Koester, S.; Alejo, J.R. 2018. Carbon pricing in practice: a review of existing emissions trading systems. *Climate Policy* 18(8): 967-991. https://doi.org/10.1080/14693062.2018.1467827
- Narloch, U.; Pacual, U.; Drucker, A. 2011. Cost-effectiveness targeting under multiple conservation goals and equity considerations in the Andes. *Environmental Conservation* 38(4): 417-425.
- Nelson F. 2008. Developing alternative frameworks for community-based conservation: piloting payments for environmental services (PES) in Tanzania's Simanjiro Plains. USAID. Available at https://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/PNADT596.pdf (accessed on April 1, 2022).
- Newell, R.G.; Pizer, W.A.; Raimi, D. 2014. Carbon markets: past, present, and future. Annual Review of Resource Economics 6(1): 191-215. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-resource-100913-012655
- OECD. 2020. Towards sustainable land use: aligning biodiversity, climate and food policies, Paris, OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1787/3809b6a1-en
- Ohlendorf, N.; Jakob, M.; Minx, J.C. et al. 2021. Distributional impacts of carbon pricing: a metaanalysis. *Environmental and Resource Economics* 78: 1-42. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10640-020-00521-1
- Oya, C.; Schaefer, F.; Skalidou, D. 2018. The effectiveness of agricultural certification in developing countries: a systematic review. *World Development* 112: 282-312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2018.08.001
- Pagiola S. 2008. Payments for environmental services in Costa Rica. *Ecological Economics* 65: 712-724.
- Pagiola, S.; Agostini, P.; Gobbi, J.; de Haan, C.; Ibrahim, M.; Murgueitio, E.; Ramírez, E.; Rosales, M.; Ruíz, J.P. 2004. *Paying for Biodiversity Conservation Services in agricultural landscapes*. Washington, DC, USA: World Bank. (Environment Department Working Papers 96. Environmental Economics series.)
 - https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/18393
- Pagiola, S.; Arcenas, A.; Platais, G. 2005. Can payments for environmental services help reduce poverty? An exploration of the issues and the evidence to date from Latin America. World Development 33(2): 237-253. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2004.07.011
- Pagiola, S.; Honey-Rosés, J.; Freire-González, J. 2016. Evaluation of the permanence of land use change induced by payments for environmental services in Quindío, Colombia. *PLoS ONE* 11(3): e0147829. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0147829
- Peñasco, C.; Anadón, L.D. Verdolini, E. 2021. Systematic review of the outcomes and trade-offs of ten types of decarbonization policy instruments. *Nature Climate Change* 11: 257-265. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-020-00971-x
- Perrot-Maître, D. 2006. *The Vittel payments for ecosystem services: a "perfect" PES case?* London, UK, International Institute for Environment and Development.
- Persha, L.; Agrawal, A.; Chhatre, A. 2011. Social and ecological synergy: local rulemaking, forest livelihoods, and biodiversity conservation. *Science* 331(6024): 1606-1608.
- Petkova, E.; Larson, A.; Pacheco, P. 2010. Forest governance, decentralization and REDD+ in Latin America. *Forests* 1(4): 250-254. https://doi.org/10.3390/f1040250
- Pimentel, D.; Berger, B.; Filiberto, D.; Newton, M.; Wolfe, B.; Karabinakis, E.; Clark, S.; Poon, E.; Abbett,
 E.; Nandagopal, S. 2004. Water resources: agricultural and environmental issues. *BioScience* 54(10): 909-918.

- Piñeiro, V.; Arias, J.; Dürr, J.; Elverdin, P.; Ibáñez, A.M.; Kinengyere, A.; Torero, M. 2020. A scoping review on incentives for adoption of sustainable agricultural practices and their outcomes. *Nature Sustainability* 3: 809-820. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-020-00617-y
- Pörtner, H.O.; Scholes, R.J.; Agard, J.; Archer, E.; Arneth, A.; Bai, X.; Barnes, D.; Burrows, M.; Chan, L.; Cheung, W.L.; Diamond, S.; Donatti, C.; Duarte, C.; Eisenhauer, N.; Foden, W.; Gasalla, M. A.; Handa, C.; Hickler, T.; Hoegh-Guldberg, O.; Ichii, K.; Jacob, U.; Insarov, G.; Kiessling, W.; Leadley, P.; Leemans, R.; Levin, L.; Lim, M.; Maharaj, S.; Managi, S.; Marquet, P. A.; McElwee, P.; Midgley, G.; Oberdorff, T.; Obura, D.; Osman, E.; Pandit, R.; Pascual, U.; Pires, A. P. F.; Popp, A.; ReyesGarcía, V.; Sankaran, M.; Settele, J.; Shin, Y. J.; Sintayehu, D. W.; Smith, P.; Steiner, N.; Strassburg, B.; Sukumar, R.; Trisos, C.; Val, A.L.; Wu, J.; Aldrian, E.; Parmesan, C.; Pichs-Madruga, R.; Roberts, D.C.; Rogers, A.D.; Díaz, S.; Fischer, M.; Hashimoto, S.; Lavorel, S.; Wu, N.; Ngo, H.T. 2021. IPBES-IPCC co-sponsored workshop report on biodiversity and climate change. IPBES and IPCC. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.4782538
- Robalino, J.; Pfaff, A. 2013. Ecopayments and deforestation in Costa Rica: a nationwide analysis of PSA's initial years. *Land Economics* 89(3): 432-448. https://doi.org/10.3368/le.89.3.432
- Rockström, J.; Steffen, W.; Noone, K. et al. 2009. A safe operating space for humanity. *Nature* 461: 472-475. https://doi.org/10.1038/461472a
- Rockström, J.; Edenhofer, O.; Gärtner, J.; DeClerck, F. 2020. Planet-proofing the global food system. *Nature Food* 1(1): 3-5.
- Rodríguez-de-Francisco, J.C.; Budds, J. 2015. Payments for environmental services and control over conservation of natural resources: the role of public and private sectors in the conservation of the Nima watershed, Colombia. *Ecological Economics* 117: 295-302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2014.05.003
- Rueda, X.; Garrett, R.D.; Lambin, E.F. 2017. Corporate investments in supply chain sustainability: Selecting instruments in the agri-food industry. *Journal of Cleaner Production* 142: 2480-2492. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.11.026
- Shames, S. 2013. *How can small-scale farmers benefit from carbon markets? CCAFS Policy Brief No. 8.* Copenhagen, Denmark, CGIAR Research Program on Climate Change, Agriculture and Food Security (CCAFS).
- Sills, E.O.; Herrera, D.; Kirkpatrick, A.J.; Brandão, A.; Dickson, R.; et al. 2015. Estimating the impacts of local policy innovation: the synthetic control method applied to tropical deforestation. *PLoS ONE* 10(7): e0132590
- Snilsveit, B.; Stevenson, J.; Langer, L.; Tannous, N.; Ravat, Z.; Nduku, P.; ... Ferraro, P.J. 2019. Incentives for climate mitigation in the land use sector—the effects of payment for environmental services on environmental and socioeconomic outcomes in low- and middle-income countries: A mixed-methods systematic review. *Campbell Systematic Reviews* 15(3): 1-121. https://doi.org/10.1002/cl2.1045
- Solidaridad Network. (2021, June 30). Solidaridad and Rabobank make carbon markets work for smallholder farmers. Available at https://www.solidaridadnetwork.org/news/solidaridadand-rabobank-make-carbon-markets-work-for-smallholder-farmers/ (accessed on December 16, 2021).
- Solis, D.; Cronkleton, P.; Sills, E.O.; Rodriguez-Ward, D.; Duchelle, A.E. 2021. Evaluating the impact of REDD+ interventions on household forest revenue in Peru. *Frontiers in Forests and Global Change* 4: https://doi.org/10.3389/ffgc.2021.624724

Tscharntke, T.; Milder, J.C.; Schroth, G.; Clough, Y.; DeClerck, F.; Waldron, A.; Rice, R.; Ghazoul, J. 2014. Conserving biodiversity through certification of tropical agroforestry crops at local and landscape scales. *Conservation Letters* 8(1): 14-23. https://doi.org/10.1111/conl.12110

- United Nations. 1997. *Glossary of environment statistics, studies in methods, Series F, No. 67*, New York, United Nations. Available at https://stats.oecd.org/glossary/detail.asp?ID=723
- Van Hecken, G.; Bastiaensen, J.; Huybrechs, F. 2015. What's in a name? Epistemic perspectives and payments for ecosystem services policies in Nicaragua. *Geoforum* 63: 55-66.
- von Essen, M.; Lambin, E.F. 2021. Jurisdictional approaches to sustainable resource use. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 19(3): 159-167.
- Vorlaufer, M.; Ibanez, M.; Juanda, B.; Wollni, M. 2017. Conservation versus equity: can payments for environmental services achieve both? *Land Economics* 93(4): 667-688.
- West, T.A.P.; Börner, J.; Sills, E.O.; Kontoleon, A. 2020. Overstated carbon emission reductions from voluntary REDD+ projects in the Brazilian Amazon. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 117(39): 24188-24194. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2004334117
- World Bank. 2020. IBRD sustainable development bonds and green bonds 2020 Impact Report. Capital Markets & Investments Department, The World Bank Treasury. Available at https://treasury.worldbank.org/en/about/unit/treasury/impact/impact-report (accessed on April 1, 2022).
- Wunder, S.; Albán, M. 2008. Decentralized payments for environmental services: the cases of Pimampiro and PROFAFOR in Ecuador. *Ecological Economics* 65: 685-698.
- Wunder, S. 2015. Revisiting the concept of payments for environmental services. *Ecological Economics* 117: 1-36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2014.08.016
- Wunder, S.; Brouwer, R.; Engel, S.; Ezzine-de-Blas, D.; Muradian, R.; Pascual, U.; Pinto, R. 2018. From principles to practice in paying for nature's services. *Nature Sustainability* 1: 145-150. https://www.nature.com/articles/s41893-018-0036-x
- Wunder, S.; Duchelle, A.E.; Sassi, C. de, Sills, E.O.; Simonet, G.; Sunderlin, W.D. 2020. REDD+ in theory and practice: how lessons from local projects can inform jurisdictional approaches. *Frontiers in Forests and Global Change* 3: 1-17. https://doi.org/10.3389/ffgc.2020.00011
- zu Ermgassen, S.O.S.E.; Baker, J.; Griffiths, R.A.; Strange, N.; Struebig, M.J.; Bull, J.W. 2019. The ecological outcomes of biodiversity offsets under "no net loss" policies: a global review. *Conservation Letters* 12(6): https://doi.org/10.1111/conl.12664

Annex 1. Typologies of environmental policy instruments

Typology	Context	Categories
Piñeiro et al. (2020)	Incentives for adoption of sustainable agricultural practices	 (i) Market-based incentives (e.g., income transfers), (ii) Regulatory measures (e.g., certifications), (iii) Cross-compliance incentives (e.g., agri-environmental payments).
FAO (2020)	incentives to improve productivity and enhance ecosystem services	 (i) Purely policy-driven instruments (e.g., taxes or charges), (ii) Responsible market-led investments like bio-offsets, (iii) Voluntary investments (e.g., corporate social responsibility investments).
OECD (2020)	policy instruments to address climate change and ecosystem degradation in agriculture and forestry	 (i) Command-and-control approaches such as standards and controls on the overuse of agrochemicals, (ii) Economic instruments including PES, REDD+ and tradable permits, among others, (iii) Information and other voluntary instruments that include, for example, eco-labeling and certifications, (iv) Others: R&D and technical assistance.
Lockie (2020)	Policy and regulatory instruments for agri- environmental management	 (i) Self-regulation and co-regulation that includes, for instance, codes of conduct, (ii) Support and capacity building that considers, among others, technical assistance and public sector research, (iii) Information-based instruments that incorporate ecolabels and adverse publicity and the like, (iv) Economic instruments including tradable permits, conservation or agri-payments etc., (v) Direct or command-and-control regulation like restrictions and output quotas or zoning and location controls, etc.

Annex 2. Studies on economic incentives for conservation

Instrument	No. of cases	Locations	References
Payments for Ecosystem Services	143	23 countries: Australia, Bolivia, Botswana, Brazil, China, Colombia, Costa Rica, Ecuador, France, India, Indonesia, Kenya, Madagascar, México, Mozambique, Namibia, Panama, South Africa, Tanzania, Uganda, UK, USA and Vietnam	Four academic papers: Ezzine-de-Blas et al. 2016; Moros et al. 2020; Snilsveit et al. 2019; Wunder et al. 2018
Voluntary Sustainability Standards	131*	24 countries: Benin, Bolivia, Brazil, Chile, China, Colombia, Costa Rica, Dominican Republic, Ethiopia, Ghana, Guatemala, Honduras, India, Indonesia, Kenya, Laos, Mexico, Nepal, Nicaragua, Peru, Rwanda, Tanzania, Thailand and Uganda	Two academic papers: Garrett et al. 2021; Meemken 2020
REDD+	85	21 countries: Belize, Brazil, Cambodia, Cameroon, Costa Rica, Guyana, India, Indonesia, Kenya, Nepal, Madagascar, México, Mozambique, Nigeria, Perú, Philippines, Papua New Guinea, Tanzania, Thailand, Uganda and Vietnam	Two academic papers: Green 2021; Narassimhan et al. 2018
Carbon Markets	37	Six jurisdictions: country-level (Canada, China, Japan, Korea and New Zealand), Europe, OECD, and USA (national and state level)	Five academic papers: González-Ramírez et al. 2012; Green 2021; Michaelowa et al. 2019; Narassimhan et al. 2018; Newell et al. 2014
Impact Investment	20+	Australia, Brazil, Costa Rica, Ecuador, El Salvador, Ethiopia, Europe, Guatemala, Honduras, Nicaragua, Peru and USA	Three academic papers: Antarciuc et al. 2018; Havemann et al. 2020; Hermes and Lensink 2011

Instrument	No. of cases	Locations	References
			Institutional reports: GIIN 2020; World Bank 2020
Biodiversity offsets	20+	Australia, Brazil, Canada, Colombia, Finland, France, India, Madagascar, Morocco, South Africa, Sweden, Thailand, USA and Uzbekistan	Four academic papers: Bull et al. 2013; Gelcich et al. 2016; Gonçalves et al. 2015; zu Ermgassen et al. 2019

Notes: *repetition of cases is possible especially regarding coffee and cocoa cases in Latin America, India and Africa.



The Commission on Sustainable Agriculture Intensification (CoSAI) brings together 21 Commissioners to influence public and private support to innovation in order to rapidly scale up sustainable agricultural intensification (SAI) in the Global South.

For CoSAI, innovation means the development and uptake of new ways of doing things – in policy, social institutions and finance, as well as in science and technology.

Contact us: wle-cosaisecretariat@cgiar.org

wle.cgiar.org/cosai

SUPPORTED BY



RESEARCH PROGRAM ON Water, Land and Ecosystems